

Ford, Polly (2021) Mindfulness practices and supporting the inclusion of pupils with social and emotional behavioural needs: a systematic literature review. [MEd]

Copyright © 2021 The Author

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author(s)

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author(s)

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, institution and date must be given.

https://dissertations.gla.ac.uk/512/

Deposited: 10 December 2021



MINDFULNESS PRACTICES AND SUPPORTING THE INCLUSION OF PUPILS WITH SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL BEHAVIOURAL NEEDS: A SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW.

Polly Ford

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Inclusive Education: Research, Policy and Practice

University of Glasgow

16th August 2021

(Word count:14639 words)

<u>Acknowledgements</u>

I would like to express my gratitude to all the tutors who have inspired and guided me through the process of completing my masters. This year was a challenging year and every tutor remained encouraging and enthusiastic, making this experience a hugely positive time in my career. I look forward to taking this learning with me into my future classroom and continuing to develop my teaching practice. I am especially grateful for the help of Susie Marshall, my dissertation supervisor, who was a great help to me. Susie has guided me throughout the year and has helped me to be more thoughtful and produce the best writing I am capable of. She remained enthusiastic, friendly and positive and I am proud of the work I have completed under her guidance.

I would also like to say thank you to my mum, my dad and my partner Murray for their endless support and patience this year. A special thanks to my dad for proofreading my writing and making sure all my commas are in the correct place.

Abstract

The research project aims to investigate whether mindfulness practices are a suitable tool to support the inclusion of pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties. This research project is a systematic literature review which has synthesised seven empirical articles found through searches within six bibliographic databases using several inclusion and exclusion criteria in order to ensure the relevance and suitability of the articles. Thematic analysis was used to gather data from these articles and seven themes were created which outlined the changes created through the use of the mindfulness practices. These themes were: Improved self-regulation; Improved social competencies; Improved emotional competencies; Improved behaviour regulation; Improved executive function; Greater benefit to pupils with lower social-emotional competencies and Feasibility of school-based practice. It is concluded that the use of mindfulness practices are of benefit to all learners and especially those with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties as this leads to better self-regulation and school readiness. Therefore, there is a need to encourage the use of mindfulness practices in order to assist and include pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties in the Scottish primary school.

Table of contents

Introduction	5
Initial literature review	8
What is meant by social emotional behavioural difficulties?	8
Supporting pupils with SEBD	9
Self-regulation and school readiness	12
What is mindfulness and how is it linked to pupils with SEBD?	14
Conclusion	15
Research questions	16
Methodology	17
Method	17
Ethical considerations	23
Findings	24
Theme 1: Improved self-regulation	24
Theme 2: Improved social competencies	25
Theme 3: Improved emotional competencies	26
Theme 4: Improved behaviour regulation	27
Theme 5: Improved executive function	27
Theme 6: Greater benefit to pupils with lower social-emotional competencies	29
Theme 7: Feasibility of school-based practice	29
Discussion	31
Research question 1: What changes in cognitive, social and emotional competencies	es
are shown in studies investigating mindfulness practices using primary school pupil	s?31
Changes in social and emotional competencies	33
Changes in cognitive functions	35

Research question 2: Is there evidence to suggest the benefits of mindfulness practic	ces
found within adult studies can be replicated within the primary school environment?	37
Greater benefit to pupils with SEBD?	39
Conclusion	41
Implications for practice	42
Limitations	44
Reference list	45
Appendix A	60
Appendix B	61

Introduction

This research project is a systematic literature review which aims to investigate whether mindfulness practices can be used as an effective tool within the Scottish primary school to support the inclusion of pupils with 'social, emotional and behavioural difficulties' (SEBD). This topic was chosen as inclusion is a key focus within Scottish education, since a key political goal within Scotland is to improve outcomes for all members of Scottish society through the promotion of social justice and equity (Education Scotland, 2015; Hamilton and O'Hara, 2011; McCluskey, 2017; Scottish Government, 2020; Sutherland and Stack, 2014). In light of this the Scottish education system attempts to promote inclusion to ensure all children are able to access, participate and feel valued within their learning community in order to achieve their full potential and access positive life outcomes (Education Scotland, 2015). Inclusion is a complex concept and is frequently defined within education as the identification and removal of barriers in order to encourage access, participation and success for all learners (Armstrong et al., 2000; Mitchell, 2017; Moran and Abbott, 2010; Reindal, 2016). This definition is mirrored within the Scottish context as inclusion is outlined as the ability to be present, participate, achieve and supported within the school context. (Scottish Government, 2019). Therefore, it is important to ask what adjustments need to be made to ensure all pupils are able to meet this definition of inclusion.

This discussion focuses on the inclusion of pupils with SEBD as this is a prevalent group within the context of Scottish education (Mowat, 2019). The social emotional behavioural needs of all pupils are of importance within Scottish education since a core aim of education policy is to promote long-term well-being by ensuring that pupils leave school able to participate as contributing members of wider society (Scottish Government, 2009). Therefore, it is important that pupils are able to access and participate in equitable learning experiences and are given opportunities to learn accepted norms of behaviour within a supportive environment which encourages the development of self-awareness, self-worth and personal achievement (Scottish Government, 2009; Scottish Government, 2017). Hyland (2010) extends this idea and states that the ultimate ends of education are to promote self-esteem, job satisfaction and life satisfaction. Therefore, it can be said that Scottish education has two clear

goals. Firstly, to ensure that Scotland's young people access a meaningful and equitable education system which allows pupils to achieve and attain highly within academic contexts. And secondly, to enable pupils to develop the necessary social and emotional competencies needed to be a fully functioning member of society with a sense of self-worth and the ability to build meaningful relationships. Therefore, this research project aims to find an approach which encourages pupils with SEBD to develop the skills needed to be able to be included within and access an equitable education and to improve their later life outcomes as fully functioning members of society.

The decision to write this research project was driven by one's interest in the pastoral care aspect of teaching. As a Scottish primary school teacher I have worked within a range of classes and have met numerous pupils with SEBD. As I progress within my career I want to build my understanding of how best to support these pupils in order to create a more inclusive and supportive environment within my classroom. Furthermore, I have a special interest in how mindfulness and nurture can be used within the classroom environment to support pupils as I completed a university placement within a school using specific mindfulness approaches to support their pupils. This was a fascinating experience and I could see a clear benefit to the pupils within these classes and wished to further my knowledge surrounding the benefits of mindfulness. Therefore, I decided to investigate how mindfulness can be used to better support and include pupils with SEBD within the classroom.

This research project will be structured as a systematic literature review. The initial literature review will aim to contextualise the topic and collate current understanding of what is meant by SEBD, what support current literature suggests these individuals require and how mindfulness practices can be linked to this support. The discussion within the initial literature review will then lead to the research questions which this research project will aim to answer. Following the initial literature review the methodology will discuss the research paradigm and will outline the systematic process which was used to collect the data necessary to answer the research questions. The following chapter will outline the findings collected during a process of thematic analysis using a range of studies which fit a set search criteria. These findings will then be

critically analysed within the discussion chapter finally leading to a conclusion which will present the overall implications and limitations of this study.

Initial literature review

This initial literature review aims to analyse and evaluate the current discussions surrounding pupils with social emotional behavioural difficulties (SEBD) within Scottish primary education. Pupils with SEBD are of importance within discussions surrounding inclusion within Scotland's schools as the label 'SEBD' encompasses what is seen as the largest and fastest growing group of children with additional support needs in Scotland (Mowat, 2019). As Scottish education policy aims to ensure that all pupils are included within the education system and are able to achieve highly it is important to consider the needs of pupils with SEBD as it is suggested that pupils who struggle to follow expected behavioural norms are more likely to be low academic attainers and display poor emotional competencies which can have long-term effects on individual well-being (Chi et al., 2016; Education Scotland, 2015). Furthermore, it is suggested that pupils' social, emotional and behavioural development is a core factor to school success. This is evidence through suggestions that pupils with SEBD are more likely to be lower achieving and have more negative school experiences (Scottish Government, 2010). Furthermore, the Scottish Government (2010) warns that pupils who enter Scottish primary schools already presenting challenging behaviour have been shown to have more difficulty building effective peer and teacher relationships, have higher truancy rates and achieve at a lower level than their peers. Therefore, it is important that the needs of these pupils are being met and that these pupils are able to effectively access and participate within their learning environment in order to ensure that these learners are included and on a path to more positive outcomes.

What is meant by social emotional behavioural difficulties?

SEBD is a complex and multifaceted concept as a number of conditions and needs can be categorised within this term. Although a variety of terms are in current use within policy and literature, this discussion will use the term 'Social Emotional Behavioural Difficulties' as this is the terminology used within Scottish policy (Mowat, 2011;Scottish Government, 2010). The term SEBD can be difficult to define as definitions vary within different contexts. However, within the UK context, SEBD are commonly catergorised as being displaying behaviours or emotions that differ from the

norm in such a way that this interferes with the child's own growth and development and/or the lives of others, such as anxiety or confrontational behaviours (Cooper and Whitebread, 2007, p.13; Sloan et al., 2020, p.1).

When examining what causes pupils to develop SEBD a key area of focus is the role of early childhood development. It is suggested that early childhood is an important developmental stage when individuals begin to learn to self-regulate, and if pupils experience a challenging or adverse early childhood environment then this important stage of emotional growth and development can be disrupted (Auerback and Delport, 2018; Boyer and Boyer, 2016; Boxall, 2002; Chi et al., 2016; Posner and Rothbart 2009). This is of importance as it has been found that pupils who have disrupted early childhood development are often affected in ways that negatively impact cognitive function, emotional regulation, and increase their risk of low academic attainment, unemployment and poor mental health (Greenberg 2006; Kim and Cicchetti 2010; Scottish Government, 2010). Furthermore, poor self-regulation has been shown to impact education, since the inability to regulate emotions and behaviour is shown to increase the risk of poor academic success, decision making and social functioning (Humphries et al., 2018; Malboeiy-Hurtubise et al., 2018; Viglas and Pelman, 2018).

Supporting pupils with SEBD

When considering how to best support pupils with SEBD Mowat (2010) suggests that there is a general agreement that development of self-regulation is an important goal. Self-regulation is a broad concept and is defined in a number of ways within current literature (Liew, 2012). The most prevalent definition within early childhood literature is that self-regulation comprises cognitive, emotional and behavioural processes and is "the ability to control one's emotions, attention, and behaviors" (Blair and Diamond, 2008; Blair and Razza, 2007; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Liew, 2012; Molfese et al., 2010; Nakamichi et al., 2021, p.159; Raffaelli et al., 2005). This definition is used within this discussion as it is the most prevalent definition within the context of this research project and unlike other definitions of self-regulation places a focus on the social aspect of self-regulation as well as the academic aspect. The development of social and emotional competencies (SEC) and Executive functions (EF)

are viewed as core to the development of self-regulation (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Nakamichi et al., 2021).

EF are control processes involved in the creation of deliberate, goal-orientated thought and cognitive skills such as concentration, decision making, motivation, optimism and awareness (Anderson, 2002; Diamond, 2013; Diamond and Lee, 2011; Liew, 2012; Martins et al., 2016; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Zelazo et al., 2008). There is a large agreement within the literature that there are three core aspects of EF: inhibitory control, working memory and cognitive flexibility or attention shifting, since these two terms are interchanged within the literature (Anderson, 2002; Bierman et al., 2008; Diamond, 2013; Diamond and Lee, 2011; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Liew, 2012; Martins et al., 2016, p.2; Zelazo et al., 2008). Inhibitory control is the capacity to alter a reactive response in order to attain personal goals and regulate behaviour (Bierman et al., 2008). Working memory is a complex function which allows for knowledge acquisition and information retention which leads to the development of long-term memory (Bierman et al., 2008; Bull and Scerif, 2001). Cognitive flexibility or attention shifting is the ability to sustain or shift attention to focus attention on specific stimuli which is an important skill needed to develop knowledge and learn new information (Bierman et al., 2008). These core EFs are viewed as key to the development of self-regulation since these functions allow individuals to apply knowledge and attention to specific tasks leading to development of cognitive, behavioural and emotional flexibility resulting in higher academic achievement and SEC (Anderson, 2002; Barkley, 2001; Bierman et al., 2008; Blair, 2002; Blair and Diamond 2008; McClelland et al., 2013; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Ponitz et al., 2009; Zelazo et al., 2008).

SEC encompasses a broad range of abilities including self-awareness, emotional-management, empathy, positive relationship skills and the ability to identify emotions within oneself and others (Gueldner and Feuerborn, 2016; Humphires et al., 2018; Maloney et al., 2016; Visser et al., 2012). Emotional competencies are defined as the ability to regulate emotions in order to recognise, understand and react appropriately to personal emotions and the emotions of others (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Jones et al., 2017). Having an understanding of how to interpret and regulate emotional processes is key to developing empathy and maintaining

attention, as when emotions are more controlled individuals are better able to engage in prosocial behaviours and have more effective cognitive regulation (Jones et al., 2017). Social competencies are defined as the ability to have positive social interactions with others and are displayed in actions such as cooperating with others and regulating appropriate behaviours (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016). Development of social competence is closely influenced by individuals' ability to regulate and understand emotions as these skills are key to reading and reacting to others emotions and social cues which are necessary skills for effective prosocial interactions (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Jones et al., 2017; Nakamichi et al., 2021). Social competencies are key to the development of prosocial behaviours, such as showing empathy, playing fairly, taking turns, problem solving, goal setting, listening and the ability to balance one's own needs with the needs of others, all of which are a key part of social engagement and successful participation within a school environment (Bierman et al., 2008; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Nakamichi et al., 2021). It is clear that the development of SEC is of importance as these skills have been shown to play a critical role within school success and later life outcomes (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Jones et al., 2017). Children who have been able to develop SEC and are able to understand emotional cures, display prosocial behaviours and build positive peer relationships which leads to higher levels of peer acceptance and academic achievement and reduced SEBD (Denham et al., 2012; Leerkes et al., 2008; Martins et al., 2016; Trentacosta and Fine, 2010). Therefore, it can be suggested that the development of SEC is key to supporting children with SEBD.

There is an acknowledgement within the literature that EFs are not fixed and can be developed (Liew, 2012). EFs are developed throughout childhood with a rapid growth period between the ages of three and five which allows children to develop the ability to organise their thoughts and regulate behaviours and reactions to events (Barkley, 2001; Bierman et al., 2008; Martins et al., 2016; Zelazo and Lyons, 2012). This early childhood period is when pupils begin to attend formal education and it is suggested that it is possible to provide specific school-based interventions for pupils to assist in the development of the necessary EF needed for effective self-regulation (Brocki and Bohlin, 2004; Liew, 2012; Zelazo et al., 2004). This is important as it has been found

that environmental factors play a key role in the development of EF and children who have experienced challenging early childhood experiences such as high stress, exposure to violence and poor levels of social support are more likely to experience delays in the development of EFs and therefore have poorer self-regulation skills (Bierman et al., 2008; Cicchetti, 2002). Furthermore, the development of SEC also begins in early childhood and these early SEC create the 'building blocks' for later competencies needed in adulthood ((Bierman et al., 2008; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Jones et al., 2017, p.52), meaning that if these competencies are underdeveloped within early childhood it is more challenging for these individuals to develop the more complex competencies needed for later life (Jones et al., 2017). Some suggest that the development of SEC is closely related to EFs (Blair, 2002; Blair and Razza, 2007; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Martins et al., 2016). Martins et al (2016) propose that EFs create a foundation for the development of emotional knowledge and understanding as EF controls attention-regulation which is necessary for children to learn to recognise and distinguish between emotions. Furthermore EFs provide the inhibitory control needed to control behaviour and emotional reactions which allows for the prosocial interactions needed to develop an understanding of emotions (Martins et al., 2016). The working memory is an important tool for the development of SEC as this allows children to learn from experience and develop an understanding of social rules and cues (Bierman et al., 2008). As there are clear links between the development of EF and SEC it is important that nurseries and schools provide the pupils who have missed the early development opportunities with time to develop both EF and SEC which will lead to better self-regulation, thereby encouraging pupils to succeed and participate effectively within the school environment and lessening the risk of long-term difficulties.

Self-regulation and school readiness

This connection between a lack of opportunities to develop effective self-regulation skills and a lack of preparedness for school is a frequently raised issue within the literature, with the term 'school readiness' being highlighted within many pieces of literature. Pupils who display 'school readiness' are seen as those who have developed an appropriate level of the basic social, emotional and cognitive

competencies needed to adjust to, participate and succeed within the school environment (Blair, 2002; Denham, 2006; Ladd et al., 2006; Liew, 2012; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Raver et al., 2007; Snow, 2006). School readiness is key as those pupils who are able to self-regulate their emotions are found to be more likely to adjust well to school, have higher levels of motivation and show more adaptive learning behaviour (Aquilar-Pardo et al., 2013; Diamond, 2012; Humphries et al., 2018; Liew, 2012; Viglas and Pelman, 2018). Liew (2012) suggests that this is because even at an early level the teaching and learning found within schools requires pupils to demonstrate attentional and inhibitory control as they are expected to remain on task and work with their peers. Therefore EFs are a foundational aspect of school readiness as pupils require developed inhibitory control skills and working memory function to be able to follow classroom rules, sit still and pay attention (Barkley, 2001; Bierman et al., 2008; Blair, 2002; Liew, 2012; McClelland et al., 2007). Furthermore, pupils who are unable to self-regulate their emotions, attention and behaviour are more likely to be seen negatively by their teachers and peers which will impact their academic progress and ability to develop peer relationships (Bierman et al., 2008; Denham et al., 2003; Liew, 2012).

This is significant for those pupils with SEBD and poor self-regulation, as these pupils have been found to be less likely to display school readiness which can lead to long term difficulties and increase these pupils likelihood of being expelled or excluded from school (Blair and Diamond, 2008; Blair and Raver, 2014; Boxall, 2002; Brunzell et al., 2015; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Liew, 2012; Winsler et al., 2008). There are numerous bodies of evidence which suggest that pupils who begin school with underdeveloped self-regulation skills are less able to develop the SEC needed to adjust to school learning and are therefore at risk of low academic engagement and poor life-outcomes due to behavioural difficulties (Blair 2002; Blair and Razza 2007; Buckner et al 2009; Greenberg 2006; Ladd et al 2006; Raver et al 2009). Therefore, when examining how best to support pupils with SEBD, the research suggests that these pupils need to be provided with opportunities to develop the necessary EFs and SEC in order to improve self-regulation.

What is mindfulness and how is it linked to pupils with SEBD?

A number of recent studies have begun to relate the development of self-regulation to mindfulness as it is believed that mindfulness practices, such as rhythmic breathing, yoga and mindful movement (Auerback and Delport, 2018; Greenberg and Harris, 2012; Lam, 2016), can provide strategies to foster skills such as self-awareness, management of emotions and maintaining relationships in order to improve individual self-regulation (Kirby, 2016; Maloney et al., 2016; Nieminen and Sajaniemi, 2016). Although Coholic (2011) warns that definitions of mindfulness may vary as this is a relatively new and complex construct, it can be argued that there is a generally agreed definition of mindfulness within current literature, the Kabat-Zinn (2003) definition of mindfulness as "the awareness that emerges through paying attention on purpose, in the present moment, and nonjudgmentally to the unfolding of experience" (p. 145). As this definition is strongly supported within the literature this is the definition which will be used throughout this discussion when referring to mindfulness (Anderson et al., 2007; Auerback and Delport, 2018; Chambers et al., 2009; Coholic. 2011; Coholic and Eys, 2016; Emerson et al., 2017; Feuerborn and Gueldner, 2019; Kirby, 2016; Malboeiy-Hurtubise et al., 2018; Maloney et al., 2016; Moreno-Gomez and Cejudo, 2018; Robins et al., 2012; Rybak, 2013; Snyder et al., 2012; Viglas and Pelman, 2018).

Robins et al (2012) suggest that a core part of mindfulness is the ability to regulate one's attention in order to be able to observe and be aware of one's thoughts, feelings and sensations in the current moment. This is linked to the development of EFs and SEC as by becoming more aware of their own internal reactions to external factors individuals are able to develop a sense of reflective self-control and behaviour control (Brown et al., 2007; Chambers et al., 2009; Frank et al., 2016: Snyder et al., 2012; Maloney et al., 2016). Brunzell et al (2016) highlight this mindful and reflective self-control as a key step in improving outcomes for pupils with SEBD as this allows pupils to move away from a reactive emotional response and instead be more cognitively aware of their behaviours and therefore more able to self-regulate. It also suggested that an important benefit of mindfulness is the development of an awareness and understanding of emotions as this arguably leads to a better understanding of one's

own emotional reactions and reduces the risk of reactive emotional reactions (Goodall et al., 2012; Brown et al., 2007).

These benefits have led many researchers to feel that as mindfulness can improve metacognition, develop internal awareness and assist in the management of thoughts and emotions then this is a suitable approach to support the development of self-regulation (Felver et al., 2013; Gueldner and Feuerbon, 2016; Hyland, 2010; Kirby, 2016; Moreno-Gomez and Cejudo, 2018; Nieminen and Sajaniemi, 2016; Robins et al., 2012; Roeser and Peck, 2009; Snyder et al., 2012). This hypothesis has led to a number of studies examining the impact of mindfulness on self-regulation and have found that these have enabled the development of a variety of EFs as well as numerous cognitive, social and emotional abilities, such as self and social awareness, relationship management, responsible decision making, social and emotional understanding and improved academic performance (Erwin and Robinson, 2016; Feuerborn and Gueldner, 2019; Maynard et al 2017; Semple et al 2017). However, it is important to note that although there has been a recent increase in the use of mindfulness in schools, the majority of these studies have used adults or teenagers within the research sample (Feuerborn and Gueldner, 2019).

Conclusion

To conclude, it can be suggested that mindfulness practices can be used to support the development of self-regulation and therefore would be a suitable tool to support the inclusion of pupils with SEBD within the primary school environment.

However, despite a handful of studies which have investigated the use of mindfulness amongst young children, the majority of studies have focused on the use of mindfulness practices amongst an adult or teenage population. Therefore, the suggestion that mindfulness allows for the development of better self-regulation relies on data gathered from adult studies and may not be applicable within the primary school setting.

However, in recent years there has been a rising number of studies examining the effect of mindfulness on children (Emmerson et al., 2017; Feuerborn and Gueldner, 2019; Semple et al., 2017; Zelazo and Lyons, 2012). In light of this, the following discussion aims to answer two research questions by analysing research which uses mindfulness

within the primary school to assess whether the cognitive, emotional and social changes needed for improved self-regulation are also present within samples of primary school aged pupils.

Research questions

What changes in cognitive, social and emotional competencies are shown in studies investigating mindfulness practices using primary school pupils?

Is there evidence to suggest the benefits of mindfulness practices found within adult studies can be replicated within the primary school environment?

Methodology

This research project is a systematic literature review which aims to complete a comprehensive synthesis of pre-existing research in order to answer the research questions (Bell and Waters, 2014; Jesson et al., 2011). A systematic literature review has been chosen as this process encourages neutral and technical engagement with the literature which ensures that the research is rational and logical (Jesson et al., 2011; Purssell and McCrae, 2020). This research project aims to evaluate chosen empirical studies to gain an understanding of how mindfulness practices can be used to support pupils with SEBD within the primary school. Therefore the discussion centres on an interpretivist paradigm as this research is an interpretive attempt to understand the issue by exploring individuals' understanding of the world rather than focusing on a definite 'truth' (Cohen et al., 2018; Curtis and Pettigrew, 2010). Furthermore, the discussion follows a constructivist ontology, viewing reality as a social construct, and interpretivist epistemology, proposing that knowledge is developed through interpretations of different realities and human experience, as this fits well within an interpretivist paradigm (Arthur et al., 2012). As this research project aims to generate a hypothesis rather than find a definite answer to the research questions this body of research is more suited to being a piece of qualitative research (Cohen et al., 2018). Qualitative methods are more suited to the interpretivist paradigm as within qualitative research the truth is not viewed as objective but instead as a subjective reality experienced differently by individuals (Ryan et al., 2007). Therefore, qualitative research methods are arguably more suitable when attempting to understand individual experiences as these allow for greater expression of human experience (Bell and Waters, 2014; Oliver, 2012). Finally, it was decided that as the majority of studies used within the initial literature review and later discussion used qualitative methods it would be logical that this literature review will also be qualitative (Coholic, 2011; Maloney et al., 2016; Mowat, 2010).

Method

To begin this systematic literature review an initial literature review was completed to establish if the chosen topic was a valuable area of discussion and

provide a background to the chosen topic of discussion. This process was an iterative process starting with the work of key authors within the field of SEBD, such as Joan Mowat, whose work was then used to identify further literature which was identified through investigation of reference lists within the key articles (Purssell and McCrae, 2020). This process led to the creation of the research questions which were established from queries which were raised during the discussion of current literature.

Once the research questions had been set the research protocol was created. The first step was to establish the key search terms which were gathered from the initial literature review by recording the key words listed within these studies. These keywords, such as 'self-regulation', were recorded and were then collated to identify terms with similar meaning which could be grouped together in order to identify alternative wording for key search terms (Appendix. A) (Boyer and Boyer, 2016; Viglas and Pelman, 2018). These key search terms were also discussed with a Glasgow University Library support assistant who advised how best to create search terms and suggested additional terms which could be used to improve the searches. The Glasgow University Library support assistant then recommended the use of Boolean operators to ensure that the search terms were being used effectively as did Jahan et al (2016) and Jesson et al (2011). Boolean operators use 'AND', 'OR' and 'NOT' to include and exclude certain terms, although within this piece of research the term 'NOT' is not used as Purssell and McCrae (2020) warn that this could risk the accidental exclusion of relevant pieces of research. More complex Boolean operators were also used, such as the use of an asterisk symbol to allow for truncated terms (Jahan et al., 2016; Purssell and McCrae, 2020). An example of this is the term 'Mindful*' as this has numerous possible endings which are relevant to the current discussion. Finally adjacency operators were used which allow for search terms that occur within a given number of words of each other, such as the term 'Social emotional N5' (Purssell and McCrae, 2020).

After the key terms had been established the databases were chosen. Following the advice of Purssell and McCrae (2020), who advise that research should involve the use of at least three bibliographic databases, and the Glasgow University Library support assistant six bibliographic databases were selected: the British Education

Index, Child development and adolescent studies, Educational abstracts, ERIC and APA PsycInfo. As these databases were the most relevant to the chosen research topic and provide a wide scope of articles. The key word searches were then applied to these databases and were altered numerous times in order to produce papers of a suitable sample size and relevance, this process was recorded and evaluated in order to ensure the selection of the key word search was as robust and systematic as possible. This was an iterative process and was completed with numerous combinations of search terms until the most effective and relevant search was identified using the terms: '(Self or Emotion*) N5 (regulation or control)'; 'Social emotional N5 (competencies or learning or development or intelligence)' and 'Mindful*'.

Once the initial key word search had been completed the chosen papers were evaluated to assess whether they were suitable for purpose by creating an inclusion and exclusion protocol which set clear boundaries for the papers used within the study (Appendix B)(Jahan et al., 2016; Xenofontos et al., 2021). By using a clear and effective inclusion and exclusion protocol the risk of selection bias was reduced as texts were chosen based on the protocol rather than researcher selection and the research was narrowed to become more focussed and manageable (Jahan et al., 2016; Purssell and McCrae, 2020).

The first inclusion criterion was that the studies must be peer-reviewed as this is seen to improve the reliability and quality of the research (Jesson et al., 2011; Xenofontos et al., 2021). Although there is a risk of narrowing ideas through only using peer-reviewed journals this choice was made to ensure the research was as robust as possible (Nieminen and Sajaniemi, 2016). Searches were also narrowed through the exclusion of articles written before 2010 as it is recommended to limit searches to the last ten years to ensure that no outdated research is used within the research (Jesson et al., 2011; Purssell and McCrae, 2020). The search also excluded any articles written in a language other than English as although there may be studies of importance written in other languages translating the research can cause issues of reliability as the research may not be properly translated (Purssell and McCrae, 2020; Xenofontos et al., 2021). The articles produced from the search were then assessed by their title and abstract to ensure that they were relevant to the current study, an approach copied from

the methodologies of several studies used within the initial literature review (Nieminen and Sajaniemi, 2016). Finally, texts were only selected if they contained samples of children of three to thirteen years of age. This was originally set as only primary school age children from five to eleven years of age, however, this resulted in a very limited number of articles and after reflection it was decided to include preschool and early adolescent aged children to increase the range of the study. This was also deemed appropriate as studies used within the initial literature review suggested that the time period of growth which affects pupils' social,emotional and behavioural development is from preschool to late primary school (Jones et al., 2017).

Once the key search had been completed and inclusion and exclusion protocols had been applied the articles found had been limited from 43 articles to 10 chosen articles. However at closer inspection it was found that three of the chosen articles were literature reviews rather than empirical studies. These articles were then excluded following advice from one's supervisor who advised that literature reviews should be avoided as the data is not primary data which results in issues of analysis and potential ethical issues. There was concern that this was too small a sample of articles and following tutor advice the databases APA PsycArticles, SocINDEX with Full Text and MEDLINE were added to the original group of databases used. However, despite the larger range of databases the same articles were found meaning that the original seven articles were used within this research project.

After the rigorous selection process it was possible to begin the analysis. Thematic analysis (TA) was chosen as this method is used to identify, analyse and interpret themes within qualitative data and is viewed as an appropriate approach to use when attempting to identify and interpret key features of a data set as this is a systematic process leading to high quality and rigorous analysis (Clarke and Braun, 2006; Clarke and Braun, 2017; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). There are numerous benefits of using TA as this is a flexible approach which can not only produce rich data but also be applied across a range of paradigms and data sets, therefore making it a useful approach when completing a literature review which requires the assessment of a wide range of studies (Clarke and Braun, 2017; Clarke and Braun, 2006; Nowell et al., 2017; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). This review uses the Clarke and Braun model of TA as this is

cited as the most common TA approach used to analyse qualitative data (Clarke and Braun, 2017).

Clarke and Braun (2006) stress that although there is no single way to complete TA it is important that the choices made when planning for TA are made explicit. The first decision to be made was the aim of the analysis as Clarke and Braun (2006) outline two aims of analysis. The first is the production of a rich thematic description of your entire data set which is beneficial when the aim is to provide the reader with a sense of the predominant or important themes (Clarke and Braun, 2006). The second is the production of a detailed account of one theme or a group of themes in order to examine a particular area of interest or to answer a specific question (Clarke and Braun, 2006). It was decided that this study would produce a focused analysis of a group of themes as although producing a thematic description of the entire data set can provide a rich description this would be an unrealistic goal in terms of the time frame of this research project (Clarke and Braun, 2006). Another important choice was how the themes would be created. Themes are key as they provide a framework for organising and reporting analytical observations and aim to capture the important aspects, meaning or patterns within the data in relation to the research question (Clarke and Braun, 2006; Clarke and Braun, 2017). It was decided that the themes would be identified in an indicative way as this ensured that the themes were driven by the data and there were not pre-conceived notions of what the themes would be as this could bias the analysis of themes (Clarke and Braun, 2006).

This research followed the TA structure outlined by Clarke and Braun (2006) who provided a six step approach although it is important to note that this was not a linear process and there was a constant repeating of and changing between steps to produce a robust analysis of data (Nowell et al., 2017). The first step was to become familiar with the data by reading the studies and noting any initial ideas for codes and themes which may arise (Clarke and Braun, 2006). The quality of reporting was examined to ensure that the studies being used were well reported (Purssell and McCrae, 2020). The effectiveness of reporting was analysed by investigating whether the author had outlined aspects of the study such as the aim of the study, the significance of the work and shared aspects of the study such as whether the research was given ethical

approval as it would be unethical to use a study which gathered data without considering the ethics of the research (Purssell and McCrae, 2020; Ryan et al., 2007). The methodological quality of each study was also examined as this is also of importance as this influences the dependability and confirmability of the research and can be used to assess any issues such as a risk of bias and provides an explanation of how well the study has been designed and conducted to ensure that the findings are verifiable and rigorous (Purssell and McCrae, 2020; Ryan et al., 2007). Notes were kept on each article used within the study which could then be used within the discussion chapter.

The second step was to generate an initial code by coding the notable features of the data in a systematic way across the entire data set and highlighting which pieces of data were relevant to which code, codes being the small units of analysis which create the building blocks for themes (Clarke and Braun, 2006; Clarke and Braun, 2017). This process allowed for the organisation of the data into meaningful groups, and in order not to restrict the number of themes which could be used later within the research the data was coded for as many potential themes as possible (Clarke and Braun, 2006). 164 pieces of data were coded from the seven articles. The third step was to search the coded material to identify the themes, themes being large patterns of codes which are joined by a shared core idea, and then collate the codes into all potential themes by gathering the relevant data into as many relevant themes as possible (Clarke and Braun, 2006; Clarke and Braun, 2017). At the first stage of grouping codes into themes there were 33 themes identified from the coded data. The fourth step was to review the themes to ensure that the themes appropriately encapsulated the coded pieces of data (Clarke and Braun, 2006). This was done numerous times to ensure that the most suitable themes had been chosen to represent the coded data and that the coded data was grouped into coherent themes which resulted in seven clear themes emerging from the data. The penultimate step was to clearly define and name the themes which then led to the final step of TA, which was the endpoint of the analysis where the patterns in the data were reported through the selection of interesting extract examples which were related back to the research questions and literature shared within the initial literature review (Clarke and Braun, 2006).

Ethical considerations

Ethical considerations are a key area of concern within any body of research as researchers must ensure that they work ethically in all aspects of their work by examining the motives and actions within the research to ensure there will be minimal negative consequences (Darlaston, 2007; Iphofen and Tolich, 2018). The first area which must be considered when attempting to produce an ethically sound piece of research is the purpose and scope of the study as there must be an understanding of the potential benefits and costs to the group being studied (Suri, 2020). This review presents few costs to the identified group being studied as the study does not directly involve participants and the purpose of the study is to identify an appropriate method to support pupils with SEBD to be included within Scottish schools. Suri (2020) writes that it is also important to consider the potential impact of one's personal and professional interest within the findings as this may influence the report of the findings to be directed in a specific direction. One does have both personal and professional interest within the study as this review is being completed to improve one's professional practice. Therefore, a careful method has been outlined to ensure that the data is analysed in a systematic and fair way to make sure that the research avoids being biased in any way which would advance the professional or personal interests one has in the subject.

As this body of research is a systematic literature review there is a risk of using biased research as a source of data and in order to avoid this the research method has been designed to ensure that the systematic search provides relevant, high-quality and current primary research which is inclusive of diverse viewpoints as the inclusion and exclusion strategies narrow the field enough to ensure the work being used is recent and peer-reviewed but is also wide enough to ensure that a range of viewpoints from a range of geographical and cultural areas are incorporated within the research (Suri, 2020).

Furthermore, it was also decided that a desk-based systematic literature review was the most appropriate approach to this body of research as this research focuses on children with SEBD which is a vulnerable group of individuals and it would be unethical to identify a group of these pupils to use within a sturdy as there may be a harmful

impact on these individuals as they would not have a trusting relationship with me and there is the potential to cause distress to these pupils (Suri, 2020).

Findings

Following the vigorous selection process seven articles investigating the use of mindfulness practices (MP) were selected for this research project. The largest number of papers emerging from the United States (n=3), two Canadian studies and the last two papers originating from Italy and South Korea respectively. Therefore, a variety of education systems have been explored as these four countries have differing approaches and cultures. It is important to note that the two Canadian were written by Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, which may narrow the range of opinion shared within these studies. However, this is a small concern as different researchers are also involved within their work. The majority of the studies (n=4) used a sample of preschool aged children while three papers used a sample of primary school aged pupils, meaning the total range of ages included within this study was age three to thirteen. Seven themes were created during the thematic analysis of these papers which will now be introduced and discussed.

Theme 1: Improved self-regulation

The theme 'improved self-regulation' was found across six of the seven of the research articles used within the study. These papers displayed evidence that there was an improvement in the participants' self-regulatory skills from pre to post-test (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) found that the post-test teacher reports showed that the MP group teachers found their pupils were more regulated and socially-emotionally competent when compared to the pupil reports given by the control group teachers. Two studies using the 'Go-no-go task' as a measure of self-regulation found that the pupils showed an improved score after the MP indicating an improvement in self-regulation (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Jackman et al., 2019). Razza et al (2020) used the 'Head-Toes-Knees-Shoulder task' (HTKS) to assess self-regulation and also found an increase in scores between the pre and post-test measures with a significant difference between the study group and control group score. However, Berti and Cigala (2020) did

also report that although there was an increase in scores between the pre and post-test measure using the HTKS there was also an increase in scores for the control group which led them to suggest that as there was no 'significant difference' in the HTKS measure (p.10). Jackman et al (2019) also found that the total score for the HTKS was raised from pre to post-test although both the MP and control group showed an increase in scores within the total score for the HTKS task (p.2915).

Theme 2: Improved social competencies

The second theme, 'improved social competencies', was found within six of the seven papers. There are a variety of terms used within the studies as some used the term 'pro-social' behaviour while others used 'social-competencies', but as these terms both address pupils' ability to interact positively with their peers they have been grouped within the same theme. Flook et al (2015) reported that the pupils who took part within the MP were perceived by their teachers to have increased in social competence. Berti and Cigala (2020) and Kim et al (2020) also found a significant improvement on pro-social scores for pupils in the MP group between the pre and post-test measures. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) also reported that the MP pupils were found to have an increase in pro-social skills such as empathy and a decrease in aggressive behaviour.

A number of the papers used within this discussion used the same measure of social competencies. The 'Teachers' Rating Scale of Social Competence' or 'Teacher-rated social competence task' (TRSSC) was used within three studies and similar results were produced. The teachers in the study from Flook et al (2015) rated the MP group as displaying significantly higher post-test scores of pro-social behaviour. Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) found that at post-test the teachers within their study reported that the MP pupils showed a significantly higher level of social competence when compared to those in the control classrooms. Furthermore, there was a large agreement amongst this group of teachers that the MP had positively influenced the development of pupil social competencies (Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). Jackman et al (2019) also reported that teachers reported benefits to the social competencies of their pupils such as increased levels of empathy and awareness of the feelings of others post-test.

A number of the papers reported that when compared to the control groups the MP pupils were found to have higher gains in social competency scores and measures (Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Kim et al (2020) also noted that despite the pupils in the control group beginning the study with higher baseline scores in measures of cooperation and consoling, the MP group ended the study with a significantly higher score in both measures than the control group pupils. Three studies also reported that while the MP groups pro-social behaviour increased the pupils in the control group were found to decrease in pro-social behaviours such as a decrease in measures of sharing and peer-popularity (Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015).

Theme 3: Improved emotional competencies

The theme 'improved emotional competencies' was found within six of the seven articles which all found an improvement from pre to post-test scores of emotional competencies for pupils within the MP groups (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Berti and Cigala (2020) found an increase within their measure of emotional perspective-taking which suggested that pupils within the MP group were able to better understand the emotions of others post-test. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) also examined pupils' perspective-taking in addition to a number of separate measures of emotional control and found that the children within the MP group displayed a significant improvement from pre to post-test in terms of perspective-taking, optimism and emotional control. Kim et al (2020) also reported an increase in resilience post-test amongst the MP group pupils. A number of the papers (n=3) used the TRSSC as a measure of emotional competencies and presented similar results as the teachers reported that the MP improved pupils' emotional regulation and competencies (Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010).

Like the results of the measures of social competence, a difference was found between the MP and control groups as a number of the studies reported that the children in the MP group displayed higher increases in scores of emotional competence than the pupils within the control groups (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). Two studies

reported that the pupils within their control group decreased in ratings of emotional competencies as Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found significant decreases in all measures of social-emotional well-being measures among their control group pupils and Kim et al (2020) found a decrease in ratings of resilience amongst the control group.

A notable finding was presented by Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) who found that although the pre-adolescent pupils within their study were shown to improve in the self-concept measure of emotional competencies post MP the pupils in the early-adolescent group showed no change. Furthermore, Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) found that while the pre-adolescents group showed a significant increase in self-concept compared to their control group this was not the case amongst the early-adolescent sample of pupils. As those in the early-adolescent MP group decreased in self-concept from pre to post-test while those in the control group increased in self-concept (Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). However, Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) found that this was not the case for other aspects of emotional competence and the pre- and early-adolescents within the MP groups showed significant improvements in measures such as optimism compared to the control group pupils.

Theme 4: Improved behaviour regulation

The fourth theme is a relatively small theme but was found within a number of articles (n=4) which noted a positive change within pupil behaviour leading to the creation of the theme 'improved behaviour regulation' (Flook et al., 2015; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Razza et al (2020) found that the MP pupils demonstrated a significant increase in behavioural regulation and that this was maintained across the three month follow up period for the pupils. Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) recorded similar results as the teachers who participated within their study reported that they often saw an immediate change in behaviour amongst the students who took part in the MP.

Theme 5: Improved executive function

The theme 'improved executive function' was created as a high number of the articles used measures of inhibitory control, attention regulation and cognitive flexibility

to assess pupil self-regulation. Jackman et al (2019) used a range of measures to assess EF including pupil 'Inhibitory Self-Control (ISCI)', 'Flexibility (FI)', and 'Emergent Metacognition (EMI)' and an 'overall score (GEC)' which represented the pupils overall EF (p.2913). However, no significant changes were found in either the ISCI or the total GEC, which suggests the pupils did not experience any changes in their EF skills (Jackman et al., 2019). Jackman et al (2019), moreover, found that although there was an improvement between the pre and post-test EMI score there was no difference between the MP or control group scores, which suggests that the MP had little to no influence on pupils EMI. Furthermore, the mean score for the MP group within the FI measure increased, indicating a poorer performance, therefore suggesting that the MP decreased the pupils cognitive flexibility (Jackman et al., 2019).

However, other studies presented data which suggested that their MP did lead to improved EF. Berti and Cigala (2020) found that the MP pupils displayed improvements within the measures of cognitive perspective taking. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) suggest that MPs promote positive cognitive change as it was found that when compared to the control group the pupils within the MP group were shown to outperform in tasks measuring response inhibition, working memory and cognitive flexibility. Flook et al (2015) measured cognitive flexibility and found that the MP group showed post-test scores which indicated more improved cognitive flexibility than those in the control group.

Two papers used the Flanker task as a measure of inhibitory control but produced different results. Flook et al (2015) found that although both the MP and control group pupils showed improved inhibitory control there was a larger increase in the control groups score. In contrast to this Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found that at post-test the MP group pupils showed shorter reaction times and outperformed the control group in all three flanker switch tasks, which was seen to indicate that the MP group pupils had developed a greater ability to pay attention and inhibit distractions. However, although the MP children had faster reaction times during the post-test flanker tasks they did not have higher accuracy than the control group pupils (Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015).

A number of papers assessed attention regulation as an indicator of improved

EF. Razza et al (2020) found a significant increase in attention regulation from pre to post-test as the pupils were able to sustain attention more effectively after the invention. The increase in attention regulation was also shown to continue to develop post MP within the data gathered in the follow up visit (Razza et al., 2020). Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) also reported that the teacher reports indicated that the MP pupils displayed an immediate change in attention regulation. Academic achievement is also raised as a measure of increased EFs as this incorporates functions such as working memory and attention regulation. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) measured pupil mathematics attainment as a measure of improved EF and found that at post-test the MP pupils showed higher end of year grades in maths performance when compared to the control group pupils. Flook et al (2015) found similar results as they measured overall end of year academic achievement and found that the MP pupils showed higher grades than the control group on the post-test report cards.

Theme 6: Greater benefit to pupils with lower social-emotional competencies

The sixth theme, 'Greater benefit to pupils with lower social-emotional competencies', was created from data from a number of studies (n=4) which showed that the pupils who began the MP with the lowest SEC had the most significant increase in measures of self-regulation and SEC (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Kim et al (2020) found that at baseline the control group pupils had higher levels of resilience, pro-social behaviour, adaptive regulation and emotional regulation, but at post-test the MP group showed significantly higher levels within all areas than the control group. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) also found this trend within their data as the control group showed significantly higher scores on the pretest measures of pro-social behaviour and the pupils in the MP group scored higher on the scores for dimensions such as 'starts fights' and 'breaks rules' (p.60). However, the pupils within the MP group were found to have improved at post-test on almost every dimension of pro-social behaviour (Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015).

Theme 7: Feasibility of school-based practice

The final theme to be discussed within this writing is the theme 'feasibility of school-based practice' as this was raised within a number of the papers (n=6). Flook et

al (2015) and Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) both stated in their papers that the findings from their studies suggest that the addition of a MP in addition to the general curriculum within the classroom has a significant impact on pupils' pro-social behaviour, EF and emotional control. Flook et al (2015) felt that their study demonstrated that the implementation of an MP was a feasible and beneficial approach within an elementary school classroom. Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) also reported that their study showed that it is feasible to implement mindfulness exercises within the elementary school classroom and that this led to positive behavioural changes for the pupils involved.

Teacher perceptions played a key role within the development of this theme as many articles included teachers in the sample and data collection. Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) assessed the feasibility of implementing a MP programme within the elementary school classroom and found that the teachers involved in the study felt that this programme was easy to implement and embed the tasks within the curriculum, and there was a high level of implementation reported within this study. These teachers also felt that the MP was beneficial to the students as the teachers reported that they often saw an immediate change in the pupils behaviour, focus and SEC (Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). These results were also found within the studies using a sample of pupils from a preschool environment as both Kim et al (2020) and Razza et al (2020) reported that their studies showed it was feasible to use MP within the preschool classroom.

Jackman et al (2019) showed a complex array of teacher attitudes towards the implementation of MPI. Jackman et al (2019) suggest that overall the teachers within the study felt that the programme was an easy approach which benefited the pupils development of empathy, emotional awareness and self-regulation and no teachers felt that there were any risks to the programme. However when examining the meditation aspect of the programme many teachers felt unsure whether this was an effective practice and the majority of teachers felt this was a difficult task to integrate within the regular school day (Jackman et al., 2019).

Discussion

This discussion aims to explore whether mindfulness practices (MP) can be used to support the inclusion of pupils with SEBD within the primary school environment. As stated within the initial literature review the inclusion of pupils with SEBD revolves around the need to improve pupil self-regulation (Mowat, 2010). Mindfulness practices have been brought into this discussion as mindfulness is suggested to be an effective tool in the promotion of self-regulation (Brown et al., 2007; Chambers et al., 2009; Frank et al., 2016; Maloney et al., 2016; Snyder et al., 2012). Therefore, this study aims to analyse whether various MPs used within nursery and primary aged cohorts encourages the development of self-regulation leading to increased pro-social behaviour and school readiness amongst pupils. This study aims to answer two research questions: 'what cognitive, social and emotional changes are shown in studies investigating mindfulness practices for primary school pupils?' and 'is there evidence to suggest the benefits of mindfulness practices found within adult studies can be replicated within the primary school environment?'

Research question 1: What changes in cognitive, social and emotional competencies are shown in studies investigating mindfulness practices using primary school pupils?

The themes one, two, three and five outlined in the findings chapter are used within the discussion of this research question, as the first research question revolves around the development of self-regulation and how this change in self-regulation is shown within the various studies being discussed. Self-regulation is defined within the literature as having control over one's emotions, behaviour and attention and is seen to involve one's SEC and EF (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Nakamichi et al., 2021). Within this discussion development of self-regulation is being examined through the changes found within pupils' social, emotional and cognitive competencies. Within the six studies which presented measures of self-regulation there is a unanimous agreement that the pupils within the MP groups displayed an improvement in measures

of self-regulation from pre to post-test (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). These results were produced by researchers who were working across the globe and using a wide range of sample sizes and age groups. Each study was altered to ensure that the MP suited the demographic of pupils being studied, meaning that a range of MP have been included within this discussion. Despite the demographic and methodological differences each study produced results which indicated an increase in self-regulation, thereby suggesting that the core idea, mindfulness, is what led to the improved self-regulation. Therefore, it is possible to suggest that MP can be used to improve pupils' self-regulation.

However, although all six of the studies reported an overall improvement in pupil self-regulation there are some differences in the data when examining the measures used to assess self-regulation. The HTKS is a frequently used measure of self-regulation and the studies using this measure found differing results. Berti and Cigala (2020) and Jackman et al (2019) both found that while the pupils did demonstrate an increase in score pre to post-test there was no difference between the study and control group, therefore suggesting that the HTKS task does not indicate that the MP improved self-regulation. However, Razza et al (2020) also implemented the HTKS as a measure of self-regulation and found that there was an increase in scores amongst pupils within the study group but not those within the control group.

This difference in results is not obviously linked to the studies using differing samples as Razza et al (2020) had a sample group of preschool pupils aged three to five years old meaning they used a similar age demographic as Berti and Cigala (2020) and Jackman et al (2019). Furthermore, the work of Razza et al (2020) uses a similar demographic to the study by Jackman et al (2019) as both completed their research in the US. A possible reason for this disagreement in data is that the studies used different styles of MP. Jackman et al (2019) used the OpenMind (OM) program which was a year long program which asked classroom teachers to implement seven daily practices including meditation, yoga and gratitude practices (p.2912). However, Berti and Cigala (2020) implemented a much shorter programme lasting approximately eleven weeks and involved two types of activities. The pupils completed six weekly sessions of

'mindfulness-based playful activities' and nine sessions of 'short mindfulness-meditation', following this the pupils then attended a series of mindfulness activities three times a week for 15 sessions (Berti and Cigala, 2020). In contrast to this the pupils within the study completed by Razza et al (2020) received a programme which involved two weekly 25 minute sessions of mindful-yoga a week led by an expert for eight weeks. As a difference was found between the HTKS measure of self-regulation amongst the study group and the control group within the study completed by Razza et al (2020) and not within the studies completed by Berti and Cigala (2020) and Jackman et al (2019) it could be suggested that the expert-led year-long programme was the most effective MP in order to improve pupil's self-regulatory skills.

Changes in social and emotional competencies

Differences or deficits of SEC are key within discussion of SEBD as a core component of defining SEBD is that individuals display challenging behaviours and emotions, such as anxiety and aggressive behaviour, which interfere with their social interactions and the lives of others (Cooper and Whitebread, 2007; Sloan et al., 2020). Deficits in SECs are linked to poor self-regulation and lack of school readiness as if pupils are unable to regulate their emotions it is more likely that they will display more reactive social behaviours, thereby creating a more challenging school environment and an increase in likelihood of low academic achievement (Delafield-butt and Adie, 2016; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Humphries et al., 2018; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Viglas and Pelman, 2018). Therefore, the development of SEC is a key aim when attempting to improve self-regulation and create better outcomes for individuals with SEBD.

The studies used within this discussion present a wide agreement that the MP improved pupils' SEC (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). For example, Berti and Cigala (2020) and Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) both present data which suggests that the pupils who took part in their MP displayed improvements in measures of empathy and perspective taking. This is a significant finding as it was

suggested within the initial literature review that the ability to understand that others have emotions and show empathy is key to engaging in pro-social behaviours (Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Jones et al., 2017).

However, although there was a general agreement that the use of MP led to better SEC, a number of studies found that the pupils within the control group cohort decreased in social competence during the MP (Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Flook et al (2015) and Kim et al (2020) both presented data that indicated that the control group pupils showed a decrease in willingness to share and an increase in selfishness. Furthermore, Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found that the control group decreased in assessments of peer rated popularity from pre to post-test. When attempting to understand why this is the case it is important to investigate what measures each study's control group received. The control group in the study completed by Kim et al (2020) received the standard preschool curriculum used within Korea, the Nuri curriculum. The control group pupils within Flook et al's (2015) study also did not receive a specific curriculum and were instead placed in a wait-list control group. The details of the control group are not disclosed within the study, so it is assumed that the pupils within this group received the standard elementary school curriculum of the area (Flook et al., 2015). Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) are the only one of these three studies to implement a specific curriculum for the control group study as they implemented a 'social responsibility program' (p.54) which focused on the development of contributing, peaceful problem solving, valuing diversity and defending human rights and practicing democratic rights and responsibility (p.55). As there is no consistency between these studies in terms of what measures the control group received, it is challenging to explain why the pupils within the control groups decreased in measures of popularity and pro-social behaviour. However, as these studies relied on self-report measures it could be suggested that these changes within the control group stem from teacher biases (Sheinman et al., 2018). Therefore, there is a risk of biased data being collected within the studies as due to the participating teachers being aware of which pupils received the MP they may report more positive or negative results based on their own attitude to the programme. Furthermore, the lack of information shared about the control groups may stem from an ethical concern as the use of control groups

is often criticised within educational research as many argue that it is unethical to deny certain pupils access to a possibly beneficial intervention (Cohen et al., 2011). This is a possible reason for the lack of discussion surrounding these findings within the original paper and is why this point will not be discussed further within this research.

Another significant finding was shared by Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) who found that the age of pupils involved affected whether the MP improved self-concept. Self-concept revolves around the way one sees oneself and was measured by Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) through a likert-scale based guestionnaire. It was noted by Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) that while the pupils within the pre-adolescent cohort improved in self-concept, those in the early-adolescent group showed no change in self-concept. Furthermore the early-adolescent study group were found to display a decrease in positive self-concept (Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). It can be argued that this difference in results is because the pupils in the early-adolescent group are older which makes it more challenging for these pupils to alter their perceptions of themselves. This suggestion is supported by the work of Jones et al (2017) who writes that early childhood competencies create the foundations for later competencies and that if these are missed it becomes more challenging to develop later competencies. Therefore, it can be argued that the needs of the pupils within the early-adolescent cohort were not addressed soon enough. Thereby suggesting that these MP should be incorporated within earlier stages of education systems as this is when the practices were shown to have the most positive effect.

However, it can be argued that as there was an overall agreement within the studies that the use of MP has been shown to improve pupils' SEC it can be suggested mindfulness can encourage school readiness and reduces the risk of reactive emotional behaviours in turn leading to less instances of SEBD.

Changes in cognitive functions

This discussion has outlined cognitive changes as a key indicator of improved self-regulation as it is generally agreed that self-regulation is closely linked to the development of EF (Blair and Diamond,2008; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Liew, 2012; Nakamichi et al., 2021). As discussed within the initial literature review, EF are constructed from three core aspects these being working memory, inhibitory control and

cognitive flexibility/attention shifting, therefore, there are a number of different measures which can be used to assess EF (Bierman et al., 2008; Halle and Darling-Churchill, 2016; Liew, 2012; Martins et al., 2016, p.2). However, unlike the discussions of overall self-regulation and SEC where there was an agreement between the papers, the discussion surrounding EF is more contested.

Jackman et al (2019) produced results which suggested that the use of an MP had little impact on pupils EF skills and that this practice may decrease pupils' cognitive ability. This contrasts with the findings of the studies used within the initial literature review as a number of researchers argued that mindfulness has been shown to enhance EF (Brown et al., 2007; Chambers et al., 2009; Frank et al., 2016: Snyder et al., 2012; Maloney et al., 2016). The work of Brunzell et al (2016) was raised within the initial literature review as they argue that mindfulness is a key tool to improve outcomes for pupils with SEBD since this allows them to become more cognitively aware of themselves. Although the findings of Jackman et al (2019) clearly disagree with this suggestion, there is a larger body of evidence which suggests that mindfulness leads to improved EF as Berti and Cigala (2020), Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) and Flook et al (2015) are in agreement that the MP used within their studies increased EF.

Cognitive flexibility is a key aspect of EF and Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) presented data which suggests the pupils in their MP group increased in cognitive flexibility. In contrast to this, both Flook et al (2015) and Jackman et al (2019) present data which suggests that MPs do not positively impact individual cognitive flexibility. In order to assess why this decrease in cognitive flexibility occurred it is important to compare the different studies. As mentioned previously Jackman et al (2019) used the OM program as a year-long daily programme for the preschool pupils taking part in their study. Flook et al (2015) used a much shorter programme and implemented the Kindness Curriculum (KC) for 12 weeks which focuses on 'cultivating attention and emotion regulation, with a shared emphasis on kindness practices' (Flook et al., 2015, p.45). Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) implemented the MindUP program which purposefully promotes development of EF in addition to encouraging development of social-emotional understanding, community collaboration and positive moods (Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015, p.55). Therefore, it can be argued that as this MP places

a specific emphasis on the development of EF then this is why the work of Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found that there was an increase in cognitive flexibility while the work of Flook et al (2015) and Jackman et al (2019) did not.

Another area of conflict within the discussion surrounding the cognitive changes is inhibitory control as two papers used within this discussion used the Flanker task and found contrasting results. Martins et al (2016) outline inhibitory control as a key aspect of EF and Bierman et al (2008) state that inhibitory control is needed to adjust reactions which allows individuals to regulate behaviour. Therefore, this is important for pupils with SEBD as being able to regulate behaviour is a key area of difficulty for these pupils (Cooper and Whitebread, 2007; Sloan et al., 2020). Flook et al (2015) found that while both the study and control groups increased in scores of inhibitory control the increase was too small to be deemed significant. However, Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found that the pupils in the study group showed an increase in inhibition control which suggests that the MP did help the pupils to develop their EF. This difference in results could be due to the difference in ages of the two sample groups as Flook et al (2015) worked with younger pupils than Schonert-Reichl et al (2015). This is important as it has been found that while EFs develop throughout childhood there is a specific growth period between the ages of three and five (Bierman et al., 2008). Therefore, the samples used by Flook et al (2015) fall directly into this growth period and may be still developing the EF needed for effective inhibition control, which is a possible explanation as to why there was no change in inhibition control found amongst this cohort.

Research question 2: Is there evidence to suggest the benefits of mindfulness practices found within adult studies can be replicated within the primary school environment?

This research question has been raised as although mindfulness was found to be an effective tool to encourage self-regulation within adult studies there are a limited number of studies focusing on children (Gueldner and Feuerbon, 2016). Therefore it was deemed important to establish whether these findings could be replicated within the primary school environment. As previously mentioned it has been shown that the use of MP with pupils aged between three and thirteen can lead to improvements in

self-regulation. This discussion will now examine whether MP can be implemented effectively in a primary school environment as a long-term solution for pupils. The themes four, six and seven are used within the discussion of this research question.

Teachers' perceptions over whether the MP are a feasible approach were a key area of discussion as both studies using preschool and elementary cohorts found that the teachers who took part perceived the MP as feasible, easy to implement and beneficial for the pupils (Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). In contrast, Jackman et al (2019) found that, while the teachers in their study felt that the MP was a beneficial practice, a number of the teachers felt that it was difficult to integrate the tasks within the school day. However, as the majority of the papers used within this discussion found that teachers perceived the MP as easy to implement within the classroom it is possible to argue that a MP is a feasible approach within the primary school classroom and is beneficial for the development of self-regulation amongst pupils.

School readiness

The concept of school readiness was raised in the initial literature review as a key concern regarding pupils with SEBD. School readiness is defined as having the appropriate social, emotional and cognitive competencies needed to adapt and succeed within the classroom environment (Blair, 2002; Denham, 2006; Ladd et al., 2006; Liew, 2012; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Raver et al., 2007; Snow, 2006). Therefore the findings found within the studies used within this discussion suggest that the use of MPs can improve pupils' school readiness as pupils showed improvements in their social, emotional and cognitive competencies.

Behaviour regulation was raised within the initial literature review as a key aspect of school readiness as the development of SEC and EFs are seen to encourage a mindful awareness of reactions leading to better behavioural control (Brunzell et al., 2016; Bierman et al., 2008; Denham et al., 2003; Liew, 2012). Therefore, it was argued that if the MP are to be beneficial to pupils, especially those with SEBD, there must be an element of improved behaviour regulation (Brunzell et al., 2016). Four of the seven studies used within this discussion presented data which suggests that the MP led to an improvement in behaviour regulation as the pupils displayed more positive and

pro-social behaviours after the MP (Flook et al., 2015; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). As these four studies used a range of age demographics and took place in differing locations it is possible to suggest that this increase in behaviour regulation is a generalisable finding, although it is important to note that as this data is from only four papers this is perhaps a too small sample group to allow the findings to be generalisable.

Alongside a need for better behaviour regulation school readiness is reliant on pupils having a certain level of attention regulation as pupils are required to remain on task and engage with set learning (Liew, 2012). Two of the papers used within this study provided measures of attention regulation and both found an improvement in the pupils' attention to tasks and concentration post MP (Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010). This improvement in attention regulation can be linked to the development of EFs as several writers cited within the initial literature review stated that the development of EFs creates a foundation for school readiness and encourages better attention regulation due to an increase in inhibition control and improved working memory (Barkley, 2001; Bierman et al., 2008; Blair, 2002; Liew, 2012; McClelland et al., 2007). This increase in school readiness was shown through the findings highlighting increased academic attainment amongst the pupils who took part in the MP. Both Flook et al (2015) and Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) presented data suggesting that the pupils involved in their studies improved in academic attainment. This mirrors points within the initial literature review as many authors suggested that having improved self-regulation would allow pupils to be more ready for school leading to improved levels of motivation and more adaptive learning behaviour (Aguilar-Pardo et al., 2013; Diamond, 2012; Humphries et al., 2018; Liew, 2012; Viglas and Pelman, 2018). Furthermore, two studies provided follow up measures which suggested that the impact of the MP continued after the programme finished (Flook et al., 2015; Razza et al., 2020). Thereby suggesting that the impact of the MP on school readiness was both positive and lasting therefore meaning that it would be beneficial for pupils within the primary school.

Greater benefit to pupils with SEBD?

The final point of discussion is whether the MP were of benefit to pupils with SEBD within the primary school setting. A number of studies presented data which suggested that pupils with the lowest levels of SEC and self-regulation ability were the pupils who improved the most post-test across several areas such as increased pro-social behaviour, higher levels of resilience, better emotional regulation and inhibitory control (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Suggesting that the MP were of benefit to pupils with SEBD. These studies used a wide sample demographic as pupils were collected from preschool age up to the age of eleven and the studies took place in a range of locations including Italy, Korea and the US. These findings are of importance in a discussion of pupils with SEBD as these pupils are most likely to be the pupils with the lowest levels of SEC and self-regulation ability. Therefore, the development of these competencies is necessary, and as it has been shown that the MP used within these studies had the greatest impact on pupils with the lowest baseline competencies it can be argued that these practices would be of the most benefit to pupils with SEBD.

Conclusion

To conclude, this research project aimed to investigate whether mindfulness practices (MP) can be used as an effective tool within the primary school context to support the inclusion of pupils with SEBD by promoting the development of self-regulation. The first research question asked 'what changes in cognitive, social and emotional competencies are shown in studies investigating mindfulness practices using primary school pupils?'. The discussion surrounding this question drew on a number of articles from a range of locations and age groups and found an almost unanimous agreement amongst the studies that the use of MP led to improved overall self-regulation and SEC (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). Issues were raised within a small number of papers as some researchers found that the control group pupils decreased in certain elements of SEC and Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010) highlighted an age-related issue in measures of self-concept (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Jackman et al., 2019; Razza et al., 2020). However, it is possible to suggest that as there was a general agreement across all papers that the use of MP can be used to encourage positive development in self-regulation and SEC. This research question also aimed to investigate what changes in cognitive competencies were found amongst the MP group pupils. This was a more complex area of discussion as there was no clear agreement that the use of MP led to better EF. Some studies found that the MP had little impact on aspects of EF such as cognitive flexibility and inhibitory control while others found a significant improvement in these areas (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Jackman et al., 2019; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). It was argued within this discussion that the type of MP and the age of the participants impacted whether the MP led to improved EF as it was found that the pupils within the younger cohorts showed smaller changes in EF than the older pupils. This was linked to the reported EF growth period which occurs between the ages of three and five which may be why the pre-school pupils did not develop the EF as clearly as the older pupils.

The second research question asked 'is there evidence to suggest the benefits of mindfulness practices! found within adult studies can be replicated within the primary school environment?'. This was an important question as the initial literature review drew from a number of studies showing the positive impact of MP on adult and teenage populations but little was found investigating primary aged pupils. There was an overall agreement that the MP were easy to implement within the classroom and many teachers felt that there were clear and immediate benefits to using the MP (Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). It can also be suggested that there was clear impact on school readiness, a concept raised within the initial literature review as key to participation and success within the current school environment, as many of the studies found that the pupils not only improved in terms of prosocial behaviour, attention regulation and academic attainment but that these improvements were long-lasting (Flook et al., 2015; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015).

Finally, the most significant finding from this discussion was that there was an agreement across a number of studies that the pupils who started with the lowest levels of SEC and EF, and were therefore more likely to have SEBD, were the pupils who showed the greatest improvement post MP (Berti and Cigala, 2020; Flook et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015). This is an important finding as it suggests that the pupils who are in greatest need of improvements in self-regulation are the individuals who receive the most support from MP. Therefore implying that the use of mindfulness is a practical and beneficial approach to supporting individuals with SEBD. Furthermore, it is possible to argue that the use of MP is an inclusive approach to supporting pupils with SEBD as it is shown that all the pupils involved in the MP benefited from the programme and therefore it is not necessary to remove the pupils with SEBD from the mainstream classroom to provide this support and no issues of identification and segregation arise. Therefore, it is possible to infer that the use of MP has been shown to positively benefit pupils self-regulation and can be used as an inclusive approach to supporting pupils with SEBD within the mainstream primary classroom.

Implications for practice

It can be suggested that a key implication of this study is that there is a need to encourage regular mindfulness practices within the mainstream classroom in order to include and support all pupils and especially those with SEBD. Furthermore, Kim et al (2020) suggested that a 'key strength' of the MP used within their study was that the teachers and pupils completed the task together which they felt made this MP more effective as when the pupils saw their teachers completing the mindfulness meditation task they felt more motivated to participate (p.1070).

As these findings have shown that the use of MP has a clear impact on school readiness it can be suggested that MP should be introduced within the nursery setting in order to aid pupils to develop the necessary SEC and EF to improve levels of school readiness (Blair, 2002; Denham, 2006; Flook et al., 2015; Ladd et al., 2006; Liew, 2012; Nakamichi et al., 2021; Raver et al., 2007; Razza et al., 2020; Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor, 2010; Schonert-Reichl et al., 2015; Snow, 2006). Furthermore, the findings of Schonert-Reichl and Lawlor (2010), which suggested that the early-adolescent cohort used within their study struggled to increase in self-concept, indicate that the use of MP should be introduced from a young age in order to ensure that the pupils develop these positive SEC and EF early to create the 'building block' competencies needed to develop the more challenging competencies needed in adolescence and adult life (Jones et al., 2017). The MP also needs to be continued throughout primary school as the work of Flook et al (2015) found that the preschool pupils within their study showed a small change EF while those using older cohorts such as Schonert-Reichl et al (2015) found a significant change, suggesting that it is more beneficial to continue to encourage the development of EF after the significant EF growth period which occurs during the early stages of nursery and primary school (Bierman et al., 2008).

As the Scottish curriculum is a flexible approach which allows for a great deal of teacher choice it is possible to encourage Scottish practitioners to implement a set MP within their weekly routines in order to include and support pupils with SEBD (Scottish Government, 2008; Sutherland and Stack, 2014). However, there is a need for clear training to ensure that the tasks are meaningful and beneficial for the pupils. Therefore,

the Scottish government and Scottish General Teaching Council should promote opportunities for training for both established teachers and those within initial teacher training to ensure that all pupils are able to access the benefits of mindfulness practices in order to be more school ready and achieve positive outcomes.

Limitations

Although this research project did answer the research questions it set out to answer, it was not without limitations. For example, as this research project was written during the Covid-19 pandemic it was decided that is would be unethical to undertake empirical research within the classroom as this would potentially put the participants at risk of harm by increasing opportunities to contract the virus, this was deemed the ethical choice as one of the core aspects of ethical research is to minimise any harm to participants (Cohen et al., 2018). Therefore, all data used within this discussion was secondary data as no primary data could be gathered by the researcher which does limit the research as secondary data is based on interpretations of others work rather than the raw data (Bell and Waters, 2014). However, as this research works within an interpretivist paradigm this is a less significant issue. Furthermore, as this research selected peer-reviewed journals a risk arose. As the work has already been assessed by researchers who already have an established perspective of the topic which can influence their understanding of the ideas and there is a risk of 'groupthink' as the authors are likely to be working within the same paradigm which means they are less likely to support new or unconventional views (Jesson et al., 2011). Finally as this was a solo project completed in one year by one researcher and gathered data from seven articles each with relatively small sample sizes the amount of data gathered was limited. Therefore, if this study were to be completed again in the future it would be beneficial to gather empirical data and have a greater number of researchers and a longer time frame in order to gather a greater amount of data.

Reference list

Aguilar-Pardo, D., Martínez-Arias, R. and Colmenares, F. (2013). The role of inhibition in young children's altruistic behaviour. *Cognitive Processing*, *14*(0), pp.301–307. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10339-013-0552-6.

Anderson, N. D., Lau, M. A., Segal, Z. V. and Bishop, S. R. (2007). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and attentional control. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory and Practice*, *14*(6), pp.449-463. DOI:10.1002/cpp.544

Anderson, P. (2002). Assessment and development of executive function (EF) during childhood. *Child Neuropsychology, 8*(0), pp.71–82.

DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.2.71.8724

Armstrong, F.; Armstrong, D. and Barton, L. (2000). *Inclusive education: Policy, contexts and comparative perspectives.* David Fulton.

Arthur, J., Waring, M., Coe, R. and Hedges, L. (2012). *Research Methods and Methodologies in Education*. Sage.

Auerbach, C. and Delport, A. C. (2018). Developing mindfulness in children through participation in music activities. *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, *8*(1), pp.1-7. DOI:doi:10.4102/sajce.v8i1.519

Barkley, R. A. (2001). The executive functions and self-regulation: an evolutionary neuropsychological perspective. *Neuropsychology Review, 11*(1), pp.1-29. DOI:doi: 10.1023/a:1009085417776

Bell, J. and Waters, S. (2014). *Doing your research project: A guide for the first time researchers* (6th ed). McGraw Hill education.

Berti, S. and Cigala, A. (2020). Mindfulness for preschoolers: Effects on prosocial behavior, self-regulation and perspective taking. *Early Education and Development*. *0*(0), pp.1-20.

DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10409289.2020.1857990

Bierman, K. L., Nix, R. L., Greenberg, M. T., Blair, C., and Domitrovich, C. E. (2008). Executive functions and school readiness intervention: impact, moderation, and mediation in the Head Start REDI program. *Development and psychopathology, 20*(3), pp.821–843. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579408000394

Blair, C. (2002). School readiness. Integrating cognition and emotion in a neurobiological conceptualization of children's functioning at school entry. *American Psychologist*, *57*(2), pp.111–127.DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.2.111

Blair, C. and Diamond, A. (2008). Biological processes in prevention and intervention: the promotion of self-regulation as a means of preventing school failure. *Development and Psychopathology*, *20*(3), pp.899–911.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579408000436

Blair, C. and Razza, R. P. (2007). Relating effortful control, executive function, and false belief understanding to emerging math and literacy ability in kindergarten. *Child Development*, 78(2), pp.647–663.

DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01019.x

Boxall, M. (2002). Nurture groups in school: Principles & practice. Sage.

Boyer, W. and Boyer, W. (2016). Person-centered therapy: A philosophy to support early childhood education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *44*(4), pp.343-348. DOI:doi:10.1007/s10643-015-0720-7

Brocki, K. C. and Bohlin, G. (2004). Executive functions in children aged 6 to 13: A dimensional and developmental study. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *26*(2), pp.571–593. DOI:10.1207/s15326942dn2602_3

Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M. and Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychological inquiry, 18*(4), pp.211-237. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400701598298

Brunzell, T., Stokes, H. and Waters, L. (2016). Trauma-Informed Positive Education: Using Positive Psychology to Strengthen Vulnerable Students. *Contemporary School Psychology, 20*(0), pp.63–83. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-015-0070-x

Buckner, J. C., Mezzacappa, E. and Beardslee, W. R. (2009). Self-regulation and its relations to adaptive functioning in low income youths. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 79(1), pp.19-30. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014796

Bull, R. and Scerif, G. (2001). Executive functioning as a predictor of children's mathematics ability: inhibition, switching, and working memory. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *19*(3), pp.273-293. DOI:10.1207/S15326942DN1903 3

Chambers, R., Gullone, E. and Allen, N. B. (2009). Mindful emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Clinical psychology review*, *29*(6), pp.560-572. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.06.005

Chi, S., Kim, S. H. and Kim, H. (2016). Problem behaviours of kindergartners: The affects of children's cognitive ability, creativity, and self-esteem. *South African Journal of Education*, *36*(1), 1-10. DOI:doi:10.15700/saje.v36n1a1177

Cicchetti, D. (2002). The impact of social experience on neurobiological systems: Illustration from a constructivist view of child maltreatment. *Cognitive Development*, 17(3-4), pp.1407–1428. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2014(02)00121-1

Clarke, V. and Braun, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*(2), pp.77–101. DOI:doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Clarke, V. and Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology,* 12(3), pp.297-298. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613

Cohen, L., Manion, L., Morrison, K., Bell, R., Martin, S., McCulloch, G., O'Sullivan, C. and Ebooks Corporation Limited. (2011). *Research methods in education* (Seventh ed.). Routledge.

Cohen, L., Manion, L. and Morrison, K. (2018). *Research methods in education* (Eighth Edition). Routledge.

Coholic, D. A. (2011). Exploring the Feasibility and Benefits of Arts-Based Mindfulness-Based Practices with Young People in Need: Aiming to Improve Aspects of Self-Awareness and Resilience. *Child Youth Care Forum, 40*(0), pp.303–317. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-010-9139-x

Coholic, D. A. and Eys, M. (2016). Benefits of an arts-based mindfulness group intervention for vulnerable children. *Child and adolescent social work journal*, *33*(1), pp.1-13. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-015-0431-3

Cooper, P. and Whitebread, D. (2007). The effectiveness of nurture groups on student progress: Evidence from a national research study. *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties, 12*(3), 171–190. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13632750701489915
Curtis, W. and Pettigrew, A. (2010). *Education studies: Reflective reader*. Learning Matters.

Delafield-Butt, J. T. and Adie, J. (2016). The embodied narrative nature of learning: Nurture in school. *Mind, Brain and Education, 10*(2), pp.117-131. DOI:doi:10.1111/mbe.12120

Denham, S. A., Bassett, H. H., Way, E., Mincic, M., Zinsser, K., and Graling, K. (2012). Preschoolers' emotion knowledge: Self Regulatory foundations, and predictions of early school success. *Cognition & Emotion*, *26*(4), pp.667–679.

DOI:doi:10.1080/02699931.2011.602049

Denham, S. A., Blair, K. A., DeMulder, E., Levitas, J., Sawyer, K., Auerbach-Major, S. and Queenan, P. (2003). Preschool emotional competence: Pathways to social competence? *Child Development*, 74(1), pp.238–256. DOI:doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00533

Denham, S. A. (2006). Social-emotional competence as support for school readiness: What is it and how do we assess it? *Early Education and Development, 17*(1), pp.57–89. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1207/s15566935eed1701

Diamond, A. (2012). Activities and programs that improve children's executive functions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *21*(5), pp.335–341.

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0963721412453722

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual Review of Psychology, 64*(0), pp.135–168. DOI:doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750

Education Scotland (2015). How good is our school, 4th edition [Online] Available at: https://education.gov.scot/nih/Documents/Frameworks_SelfEvaluation/FRWK2_NIHeditHGIOS/FRWK2_HGIOS4.pdf

Emerson, L-M., Rowse, G. and Sills, J. (2017). Developing a Mindfulness-Based Program for Infant Schools: Feasibility, Acceptability, and Initial Effects, *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *31*(4), pp.465-477, DOI: 10.1080/02568543.2017.1343211

Erwin, E. J. and Robinson, K. A. (2016). The joy of being: making way for young children's natural mindfulness. *Early Child Development and Care, 186*(2), pp.268-286. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1029468

Felver, J. C., Doemer, E., Jones, J., Kaye, N. and Merrell, K. M. (2013). Mindfulness in school psychology: applications for interventions and professional practice. *Psychology in the Schools*, *50*(6), pp.531–547. DOI:10.1002/pits.21695

Flook, L., Goldberg, S. B., Pinger, L. and Davidson, R. J. (2015). Promoting Prosocial Behavior and Self-Regulatory Skills in Preschool Children through a Mindfulness-Based Kindness Curriculum. *Developmental Psychology, 51*(1), pp.44–51.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038256

Frank, J. L., Jennings, P. A. and Greenberg, M. T. (2016). Validation of the mindfulness in teaching scale. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), pp.155-163. DOI:doi:10.1007/s12671-015-0461-0

Goodall, K., Trejnowska, A. and Darling, S. (2012). The relationship between dispositional mindfulness, attachment security and emotion regulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *52*(5), pp.622-626.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.12.008

Greenberg, M. T. (2006). Promoting resilience in children and youth: Preventive interventions and their interface with neuroscience. *Annals of the new York Academy of Sciences*, *1094*(1), pp.139-150. DOI:doi: 10.1196/annals.1376.013

Greenberg, M. T. and Harris, A. R. (2012). Nurturing mindfulness in children and youth: Current state of research. *Child Development Perspectives, 6*(2), pp.161-166. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00215.x

Gueldner, B. A. and Feuerborn, L. L. (2016). Integrating mindfulness-based practices into social and emotional learning: A case application. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), pp.164-175. DOI:10.1007/s12671-015-0423-6

Hamilton, L. and O'Hara, P. (2011) The tyranny of setting (ability grouping): Challenges to inclusion in Scottish primary schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *27*(4). pp.712-721. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/i.tate.2010.11.009

Humphries, M. L., Williams, B. V. and May, T. (2018). Early Childhood Teachers' Perspectives on Social-Emotional Competence and Learning in Urban Classrooms. *Journal of Applied School Psychology, 34*(2), pp.157-179.

DOI:DOI:10.1080/15377903.2018.1425790

Hyland, T. (2010). Mindfulness, adult learning and therapeutic education: Integrating the cognitive and affective domains of learning. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 29(5), pp.517-532. DOI:doi:10.1080/02601370.2010.512792

Iphofen, R. and Tolich, M. (2018). *The sage handbook of qualitative research ethics*. SAGE Publications.

Jackman, M. M., Nabors, L. A., McPherson, C. L., Quaid, J. D. and Singh, N. N. (2019). Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary effectiveness of the OpenMind (OM) program for pre-school children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *28*(10), pp.2910–2921. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1007/s10826-019-01506-5

Jahan, N., Naveed, S., Zeshan, M., & Tahir, M. A. (2016). How to Conduct a Systematic Review: A Narrative Literature Review. *Cureus, 8*(11), pp.1-9.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.864

Jesson, J., Matheson, L. and Lacey, F. (2011). *Doing your literature review: Traditional and systematic techniques*. Sage.

Jones, S., Barnes, S., Bailey, R. and Doolittle, E. (2017). Promoting Social and Emotional Competencies in Elementary School. *The Future of Children*, *27*(1), pp.49-72. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1625776

Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10*(2), pp.144–156. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1093/clipsy/bpg016

Kim, E., Jackman, M. M., Jo, S.-H., Oh, J., Ko, S.-Y., McPherson, C. L., Hwang, Y.-S. and Singh, N. N. (2020). Effectiveness of the mindfulness-based OpenMind-Korea (OM-K) preschool program. *Mindfulness, 11*(4), pp.1062–1072. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1007/s12671-020-01337-2

Kim, J. and Cicchetti, D. (2010). Longitudinal pathways linking child maltreatment, emotion regulation, peer relations, and psychopathology. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, 51*(6), pp.706-716.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02202.x

Kirby, J. (2016). The role of mindfulness and compassion in enhancing nurturing family environments. *Clinical psychology science and practice*, *23*(2), pp.142-157.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12149

Ladd, G. W., Herald, S. L. and Kochel, K. P. (2006). School readiness: Are there social prerequisites? *Early education and development, 17*(1), pp.115-150.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1207/s15566935eed1701 6

Lam, K. (2016). School-based cognitive mindfulness intervention for internalizing problems: Pilot study with hong kong elementary students. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *25*(11), pp.3293-3308. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0483-9

Leerkes, E. M., Paradise, M. J., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D. and Lange, G. (2008). Emotion and cognition processes in preschool children. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, *54*(1), pp.102–124. DOI:doi:10.1353/mpq.2008.0009

Liew, J. (2012), Effortful Control, Executive Functions, and Education: Bringing Self-Regulatory and Social-Emotional Competencies to the Table. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*(2), pp.105-111. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00196.x

Major, C. H. and Savin-Baden, M. (2010). *An introduction to qualitative research synthesis: Managing the information explosion in social science research*. Routledge.

Maloney, J.E., Lawlor, M.S., Schonert-Reichl, K.A. and Whitehead, J. (2016). A Mindfulness-Based Social and Emotional Learning Curriculum for School-Aged Children: The MindUP Program. In: Schonert-Reichl K. and Roeser R. (eds) *Handbook of Mindfulness in Education. Mindfulness in Behavioral Health*. Springer. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3506-2 20

Maynard, B. R., Solis, M. R., Miller, V. L. and Brendel, K. E. (2017). Mindfulness-based interventions for improving cognition, academic achievement, behavior, and socioemotional functioning of primary and secondary school students. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *13*(1), pp.1–144.

DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.4073/csr.2017.5

McClelland, M. M., Acock, A. C., Piccinin, A., Rhea, S. A. and Stallings, M. C. (2013). Relations between preschool attention span-persistence and age 25 educational outcomes. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 28*(2), pp.314–324. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresg.2012.07.008

McClelland, M. M., Cameron, C. E., Connor, C. M., Farris, C. L., Jewkes, A. M. and Morrison, F. J. (2007). Links between behavioral regulation and preschoolers' literacy,

vocabulary, and math skills. *Developmental Psychology, 43*(4), pp.947–959. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.4.947

McCluskey, G. (2017). Closing the attainment gap in Scottish schools: Three challenges in an unequal society. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice, 12*(1), pp.24–35. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1177/1746197916683468

Mitchell, D. (2017). Diversities in Education. Routledge

Molfese, V. J., Molfese, P. J., Molfese, D. L., Rudasill, K. M., Armstrong, N. and Starkey, G. (2010). Executive function skills of 6–8 year olds: Brain and behavioral evidence and implications for school achievement. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 35*(2), pp.116–125. DOI:doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2010.03.004

Moran, A. and Abbott, L. (2002). Developing inclusive schools: the pivotal role of teaching assistants in promoting inclusion in special and mainstream schools in Northern Ireland. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *17*(2), pp.161-173. DOI:10.1080/08856250210129074

Moreno-Gómez, A. and Cejudo, J. (2018). Effectiveness of a mindfulness-based Social–Emotional learning program on psychosocial adjustment and neuropsychological maturity in kindergarten children. *Mindfulness*, *10*(1), pp.111-121.

DOI:doi:10.1007/s12671-018-0956-6

Mowat, J. (2010). Towards the development of self-regulation in pupils experiencing social and emotional behavioural difficulties (SEBD), *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, *15*(3), pp.189-206. DOI:DOI: 10.1080/13632752.2010.497658

Mowat, J. (2011). The development of intrapersonal intelligence in pupils experiencing social, emotional and behavioural difficulties, *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *27*(3), pp. 227-253, DOI: 10.1080/02667363.2011.603531

Mowat, J. (2019). Exploring the impact of social inequality and poverty on the mental health and wellbeing and attainment of children and young people in Scotland. *Improving Schools*, 22(3), pp.204–223. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1177/1365480219835323

Nakamichi, K., Nakamichi, N. and Nakazawa, J. (2021). Preschool social-emotional competencies predict school adjustment in Grade 1. *Early Child Development and Care,* 191(2), pp.159-172. DOI: 10.1080/03004430.2019.1608978

Nieminen, S. H. and Sajaniemi, N. (2016). Mindful awareness in early childhood education. *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, *6*(1), pp.9-9. DOI:doi:10.4102/sajce.v6i1.399

Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E. and Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), pp.1-13. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847

Oliver, P. (2012). Succeeding with your literature review: a handbook for students. McGraw-hill Education.

Ponitz, C. C., Mcclelland, M. M., Matthews, J. S. and Morrison, F. J. (2009). A structured observation of behavioral self-regulation and its contribution to Kindergarten outcomes. *Developmental Psychology, 45*(3), pp.605–619.

DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1037/a0015365

Posner, M. I. and Rothbart, M. K. (2009). Toward a physical basis of attention and self-regulation. *Physics of life reviews, 6*(2), pp.103-120.

DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plrev.2009.02.001

Purssell, E. and McCrae, N. (2020). How to perform a systematic literature review: A guide for healthcare researchers, practitioners and students. Springer.

Raffaelli, M., Crockett, L. J., & Shen, Y. (2005). Developmental stability and change in self-regulation from childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Genetic Psychology, 166*(1), pp.54–75. DOI:doi:10.3200/GNTP.166.1.54-76

Raver, C. C., Garner, P. and Smith-Donald, R. (2007). The roles of emotion regulation and emotion knowledge for children's academic readiness: Are the links causal? In Pianta, R. C., Cox, M. J. and Snow, K. L. (Eds.), *School readiness and the transition to kindergarten in the era of accountability* (pp. 121–147). Baltimore: Brookes

Raver, C. C., Jones, S. M., Li-Grining, C., Zhai, F., Metzger, M. W. and Solomon, B. (2009). Targeting children's behavior problems in preschool classrooms: A cluster-randomized controlled trial. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 77*(2), pp.302–316. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015302

Razza, R. A., Linsner, R. U., Bergen-Cico, D., Carlson, E. and Reid, S. (2020). The feasibility and effectiveness of mindful yoga for preschoolers exposed to high levels of trauma. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *29*(1), pp.82–93. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1007/s10826-019-01582-7

Reindal, S. M. (2016). Discussing inclusive education: an inquiry into different interpretations and a search for ethical aspects of inclusion using the capabilities approach. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*. *31*(1), pp.1-12. DOI:10.1080/08856257.2015.1087123

Robins, C. J., Keng, S., Ekblad, A. G. and Brantley, J. G. (2012). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on emotional experience and expression: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychology, 68*(1), pp.117-131. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20857

Roeser, R. W. and Peck, S. C. (2009). An education in awareness: Self, motivation, and self-regulated learning in contemplative perspective. *Educational psychologist*, *44*(2), pp.119-136. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520902832376

Ryan, F., Coughlan, M. and Cronin, P. (2007). Step-by-step guide to critiquing research. Part 2: Qualitative research. *British Journal of Nursing*, *16*(12), pp.738-744. DOI:10.12968/bjon.2007.16.12.23726

Rybak, C. (2013). Nurturing positive mental health: Mindfulness for wellbeing in counseling. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, *35*(2), pp.110-119. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10447-012-9171-7

Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Oberle, E., Lawlor, M. S., Abbott, D., Thomson, K., Oberlander, T. F. and Diamond, A. (2015). Enhancing Cognitive and Social-Emotional Development through a Simple-to-Administer Mindfulness-Based School Program for Elementary

School Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Developmental Psychology, 51*(1), pp.52–66. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038454

Schonert-Reichl, K. A. and Lawlor, M. S. (2010). The effects of a mindfulness-based education program on pre- and early adolescents' well-being and social and emotional competence. *Mindfulness*, 1(3), pp.137–151.

DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1007/s12671-010-0011-8

Scottish Government. (2009). The Additional Support for Learning (Scotland) (2004, 2009) Act. Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/7/contents [Accessed 19/05/2021].

Scottish Government. (2010). Growing up in Scotland: children's social, emotional and behavioural characteristics at entry to primary school. Available at:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/growing-up-scotland-childrens-social-emotional-behav ioural-characteristics-entry-primary/pages/3/ [Accessed 29/04/2021].

Scottish government. (2017). Supporting Children's Learning: Statutory Guidance on the Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004 (as amended). Available at:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guida nce/2017/12/supporting-childrens-learning-statutory-guidance-education-additional-sup port-learning-scotland/documents/00529411-pdf/00529411-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/0 0529411.pdf?forceDownload=true [Accessed 29/04/2021].

Scottish Government (2008). Building the curriculum 3. Available at: https://www.education.gov.scot/Documents/btc3.pdf [Accessed 29/04/2021].

Scottish Government (2019). Presumption to provide education in a mainstream setting: guidance [Online] Available at:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-presumption-provide-education-mainstream-setting/ [Accessed 29/04/2021].

Scottish Government (2020) Achieving Excellence and Equity 2021 National Improvement Framework and Improvement Plan. Available at:

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/202 0/12/2021-national-improvement-framework-improvement-plan/documents/achieving-ex cellence-equity-2021-national-improvement-framework-improvement-plan/achieving-exc ellence-equity-2021-national-improvement-framework-improvement-plan/govscot%3Ado cument/achieving-excellence-equity-2021-national-improvement-framework-improveme nt-plan.pdf?forceDownload=true Accessed: 15/03/2021

Semple, R. J., Droutman, V. and Reid, B. A. (2017). Mindfulness goes to school: Things learned (so far) from research and real-world experiences. *Psychology in the Schools, 54*(1), pp.29–52. DOI:https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1002/pits.21981

Sloan, S., Winter, K., Connolly, P. and Gildea, A. (2020). The effectiveness of Nurture Groups in improving outcomes for young children with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties in primary schools: An evaluation of Nurture Group provision in Northern Ireland: An evaluation of Nurture Group provision in Northern Ireland. *Children and Youth Services Review, 108*(0), pp.1-11.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104619

Snow, K. L. (2006). Measuring school readiness: Conceptual and practical considerations. *Early Education and Development, 17*(1), pp.7–41. DOI:doi:10.1207/s15566935eed1701 2

Snyder, R., Shapiro, S. and Treleaven, D. (2012). Attachment theory and mindfulness. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *21*(5), pp.709-717.

DOI:doi:10.1007/s10826-011-9522

Suri, H. (2020). Ethical Considerations of Conducting Systematic Reviews in Educational Research. In Zawacki-Richter, O., Kerres, M., Bedenlier, S., Bond, M. and Buntins, K. (eds) *Systematic Reviews in Educational Research*. (pp.41-54). Springer VS.

Sutherland, M. and Stack, N. (2014). Seeing beyond statistics: Examining the potential for disjuncture between legislation, policy and practice in meeting the needs of highly

able Scottish students. Horizons of Psychology, 23(0), pp.145–154.

DOI:10.20419/2014.23.415

Sutherland, M and Stack, N. (2014). Ability as an additional support need: Scotland's inclusive approach to gifted education. *CEPS Journal*, *4*(3) pp.73-87.

DOI:https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1129554.pdf

Trentacosta, C. J. and Fine, S. E. (2010). Emotion knowledge, social competence, and behavior problems in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic review. *Social Development*, *19*(1), pp.1–29. DOI:doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00543.x

Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H. and Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *15*(3), pp.398-405. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12048

Viglas, M. and Perlman, M. (2018). Effects of a mindfulness-based program on young children's self-regulation, prosocial behavior and hyperactivity. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *27*(4), pp.1150-1161. DOI:doi:10.1007/s10826-017-0971-6

Visser, J., Cole, T., Daniels, H., and Forlin, C. (2012). *Transforming troubled lives :*Strategies and interventions for children with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties. ProQuest Ebook Central

Winsler, A., Tran, H., Hartman, S. C., Madigan, A. L., Manfra, L. and Bleiker, C. (2008). School readiness gains made by ethnically diverse children in poverty attending center-based childcare and public school pre-kindergarten programs. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *23*(3), pp.314–329.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2008.02.003

Xenofontos, C., Fraser, S., Priestley, A. and Priestley, M. (2021). Mathematics teachers and social justice: a systematic review of empirical studies. *Oxford Review of Education*, *47*(2), pp.135-151. DOI: 10.1080/03054985.2020.1807314

Zelazo, P. D., Carlson, S. M. and Kesek, A. (2008). The development of executive function in childhood. In Nelson, C. A. and Luciana, M. (Eds.), *Developmental cognitive*

neuroscience. Handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience (p. 553–574). MIT Press.

Zelazo, P. D., Craik, F. I. M. and Booth, L. (2004). Executive function across the life span. *Acta Psychologica*, *115*(2-3), pp.167-183.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2003.12.005

Zelazo, P. D. and Lyons, K. E. (2012). The potential benefits of mindfulness training in early childhood: A developmental social cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*(2), pp.154-160. DOI:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00241.x

Appendix A

Grouping terms with similarities

Frequently found term	Terms found with similar meaning
Mindfulness	Mindfulness-based program Mindfulness-based practice
Self-regulation	Emotional regulation Self-awareness
Social emotional learning (SEL)	Social and emotional development Emotional intelligence
Nurture	Nurturing environment
Social and emotional behavioural difficulties	Pro-social behaviour Problem behaviour Externalising problems Internalising problems
Inclusion	
Self-esteem	Self-concept Mental health (?) Resilience (?)
School achievement	

Appendix B

Key word search: (Self or Emotion*) N5 (regulation or control) AND Social emotional N5 (competencies or learning or development or intelligence) AND Mindful*						
	Found titles	Peer reviewed	2010-202 1	Written in English	Relevant abstract	Age of participants 3-12
	Mindfulness-Based Practices for Schools	NO				
	Mindfulness in education for sustainable development to nurture socioemotional competencies: A systematic review and meta-analysis.	YES	YES	YES	YES	NO
	Mindfulness for preschoolers: Effects on prosocial behavior, self-regulation and perspective taking.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
	Effects of a mindfulness-based intervention for teachers: A study on teacher and student outcomes.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
	Get Smart about Social and Emotional Learning Measurement	NO				
	Exploring mindfulness benefits for students and teachers in three German high schools.	YES	YES	YES	YES	NO
	Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary effectiveness of the OpenMind (OM) program for pre-school children.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
	Effectiveness of the mindfulness-based OpenMind-Korea (OM-K) preschool program.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Impacts of the CARE for Teachers Program on Teachers' Social and Emotional Competence and Classroom Interactions	YES	YES	YES	NO	
Mindfulness-based social emotional learning and its impact on student achievement: An evaluation of the brain-focused mindfulness program.	NO				
The feasibility and effectiveness of mindful yoga for preschoolers exposed to high levels of trauma.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Teachers' perceptions on the impact of a classroom-based mindfulness curriculum: A qualitative investigation.	NO				
Mindfulness in the classroom: Mindful principles for social and emotional learning.	NO				
Targeting self-regulation and disease resilience in elementary school students through a mindfulness-based social-emotional learning curriculum.	NO				
Mindfulness-Based SEL Programming to Increase Preservice Teachers' Mindfulness and Emotional Competence	YES	YES	YES	NO	
A selective review of mindfulness training programs for children and adolescents in school settings.	NO				
Effect of a mindfulness intervention on early primary school children with subclinical ADHD.	NO				
The effects of mindfulness-based intervention on self-compassion in incarcerated youth.	NO				

How Self-Control Drives Student Achievement	NO				
The design and implementation of the BEST self curriculum: Teaching emotion regulation to elementary school students.	NO				
Mindfulness-based interventions in U.S. schools-a systematic review.	NO				
Enhancing Cognitive and Social-Emotional Development through a Simple-to-Administer Mindfulness-Based School Program for Elementary School Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Promoting Prosocial Behavior and Self-Regulatory Skills in Preschool Children through a Mindfulness-Based Kindness Curriculum	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Handbook of Positive Psychology in Schools, 2nd Edition	NO				
Mindfulness for Teachers: A Pilot Study to Assess Effects on Stress, Burnout, and Teaching Efficacy	YES	YES	YES	NO	
Maternal mindfulness during pregnancy and infant socio-emotional development and temperament: The mediating role of maternal anxiety.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
The brain powers project: A quantitative efficacy study of a social emotional learning intervention.	NO				
Exploring the impact of mindfulness on adolescents: A mixed methods approach.	NO				

Student-teacher attachment and the case for mindfulness.	NO				
Developing mindfulness with children and young people: a review of the evidence and policy context.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
Understanding children's self-regulation: An analysis of measurement and change in the context of a mindfulness-based intervention.	NO				
Reducing stress in school-age girls through mindful yoga.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
Mindfulness training in childhood.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
DBT® skills in schools: Skills training for emotional problem solving for adolescents (DBT STEPS-A).	NO				
The effectiveness of the Learning to BREATHE program on adolescent emotion regulation.	YES	YES	YES	YES	NO
The effects of a mindfulness-based education program on pre- and early adolescents' well-being and social and emotional competence.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
The use of time-out as a disciplinary intervention with children: A resource guide for child and family therapists.	NO				
Person-centered spiritual maturation: A multidimensional model.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
Early intervention for children/youth with Asperger syndrome.	NO				
Activities and programs that improve children's executive functions.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

	Interventions shown to aid executive function development in children 4 to 12 years old.	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
	Mindfulness for teachers: A pilot study to assess effects on stress, burnout, and teaching efficacy': Corrigendum.	YES	YES	YES	NO	
	Sitting still in the midst of change: An exploration into the usefulness of group training in mindfulness meditation for adolescents.	NO				
Total number of titles selected	73 (- duplicates= 43)	22	22	22	13	10-3 literature reviews= 7